



Your guide

Recovering from childhood bacterial meningitis and septicaemia in Ireland

Your guide in brief



Contents

Introduction	1
What are bacterial meningitis and septicaemia?	2
Can others catch meningitis from my child?	4
Should my child be followed up after discharge from hospital?	5
Why should my child have a hearing test?	7
What will the hearing test involve?	8
Why should we go back to see a paediatrician after leaving hospital?	10
What issues might I face during my child's recovery?	11
Anxiety that my child is becoming unwell again	11
My child has headaches	12
My child tires easily	13
My child is behaving differently	13
My child has lost skills/has co-ordination problems	16
Uncertainty over whether my baby has after effects	17
Should I speak to my child's school or nursery about their illness?	20
What late development after effects should I be aware of?	21
Learning and behavioural problems	22
Growth plate damage (septicaemia only)	23
What about my health as a parent?	24
The wider impact on family life	25
Serious and long-term after effects	26
After effects of septicaemia	29
How can I access further care?	31
Where can I go for support?	32
Meningitis Research Foundation	33
Acknowledgements	34
References	35

Numbers within the text that appear as superscripts like this¹² correspond with numbered references listed at the end of this guide on pages 35 - 37.

Meningitis Research Foundation free helpline 1800 41 33 44

Introduction

You are not alone. People are often unsure what to expect after meningitis and septicaemia. Parents of children affected tell us that discharge from hospital can be an anxious time because doctors and nurses are no longer on hand to answer questions. We hope that reading this will help ease anxiety for families at such a difficult time.



The rash caused by septicaemia was still visible when Leon left hospital, but it faded over time.

This booklet provides information about meningitis and septicaemia and their potential after effects. Most children who get meningitis and septicaemia survive without any permanent effects, so this booklet mainly focuses on some of the common temporary problems that children and families face soon after discharge from hospital. Fortunately, these issues commonly get better within a few weeks or months of being home from hospital.

Meningitis Research Foundation free helpline 1800 41 33 44

UK guidelines ^{1,2} on managing children with meningitis and septicaemia recommend that healthcare professionals give parents and/or children who have been affected information about recovery, potential long-term effects and how to access follow-up care before they are discharged from hospital. These guidelines say that doctors should assess children for potential after effects and refer them for follow up care and rehabilitation if this is needed.

What are bacterial meningitis and septicaemia?

Meningitis is inflammation of the membranes that surround and protect the brain and spinal cord. Septicaemia is blood poisoning caused by large numbers of bacteria in the blood stream. Meningitis can be caused by various bugs such as bacteria, viruses and fungi. Most severe cases are caused by bacteria.



Bacterial meningitis occurs when bacteria invade the bloodstream and move across to infect the 'meninges' (the membranes that surround and protect the brain and spinal cord). The meninges are filled with cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), which is there to bathe the brain and cushion it against physical damage.

Bacteria can multiply rapidly in CSF, releasing toxins which cause inflammation and swelling of the meninges. This increases pressure on the brain, producing typical symptoms of meningitis such as headache and stiff neck. In the very worst cases this injures or destroys nerve cells in the brain and may damage the inner workings of the ear. In septicaemia, the bacteria release toxins which attack the blood vessels so that they leak. As a result of these leaky vessels, the amount of blood reaching the vital organs decreases. To maintain sufficient oxygen supply to the vital organs, blood supply to the hands, feet and skin surface is reduced, and the lungs have to work harder. This is how symptoms of septicaemia develop. If the child is very seriously ill by the time treatment starts, the circulatory system may be so badly affected that urgent resuscitation is needed. In the very worst cases, septicaemia also causes blood clots to form within tiny blood vessels, which can damage the skin, fingers, toes, limbs or organs.

Many different types of bacteria can cause meningitis. For some people the specific cause of meningitis is never identified. The list below is by no means complete, but includes some of the more common bacterial causes:

- Meningococcus
- Pneumococcus
- Group B Streptococcus
- E. coli
- Listeria
- Haemophilus influenzae
- Tuberculosis (TB)

Meningococcal bacteria are currently the most common cause of bacterial meningitis in children in Ireland³. They can cause both meningitis and septicaemia, which children often have together.

More information about the specific types of meningitis, including viral meningitis, is available **online**.

www.meningitis.org/causes

Can others catch meningitis from my child?

The risk of others catching meningitis from your child is very low. Most cases of meningitis and septicaemia occur in isolation because the bacteria do not spread easily from person to person. All cases of bacterial meningitis and septicaemia should be notified to the local public health specialist by a clinician. Meningococcal and sometimes *Haemophilus influenzae* type b infections are the only types that need public health action after a single case to prevent the spread of disease.

In cases of meningococcal disease, the public health specialist will make sure that anyone at particularly increased risk of infection is offered antibiotics (usually ciprofloxacin). These antibiotics kill any meningococcal bacteria which might be carried by close contacts of the case and so prevent the spread of disease. Unimmunised close contacts may also be offered vaccination³.

Only people who have had prolonged close contact with a case of meningococcal disease such those living in the same household require antibiotics because the bacteria do not spread easily.

Meningococcal bacteria are commonly carried at the back of the nose and throat and can be passed on by coughing, sneezing and kissing. Usually people have to be in very close or regular contact for the bacteria to pass between them and even when this happens most people will not become ill, because they have natural immunity to the bug. The bacteria do not naturally live or survive for long outside the human body.

Once your child has been treated with antibiotics, the bacteria will be killed and there will no longer be any risk of the infection being passed on. Despite this, family and friends can sometimes be anxious about the risk of illness to them, and may avoid contact with you. This can be distressing, but if anyone is concerned about risk they can call the helpline number below.

Should my child be followed up after discharge from hospital?

Yes. Although most children make a good recovery, bacterial meningitis and septicaemia are serious infections. The HSE⁴ states that:



- As hearing loss is the most common complication of meningitis people recovering from the condition are usually given a hearing test to assess their hearing. The test should be carried out before the child is discharged from hospital or within four weeks of being well enough to have the test.
- The results of the hearing test should be discussed with a paediatrician. This should take place **four to six weeks** after the child is discharged from hospital. If their hearing is severely affected, they may need to have cochlear implants (small devices that are inserted into your ear to improve your hearing).

Make sure your child gets these appointments. You can contact the hospital or make an appointment with your GP to arrange these.

It is important to attend both the hearing test and the follow up review with a paediatrician. Some parents are so relieved to get their child home from hospital that they do not want the upset of having to take their child back again for further appointments. However, missing the opportunity for follow up with the hospital can put your child at a disadvantage.

Some after effects can be subtle and hard to identify. If your child has been affected by their illness it is better for any problems to be recognised early so that they can be treated as soon as possible.

Some children recover so quickly that they can go home after just a few days, either returning to hospital for their daily dose of intravenous antibiotics, or having a community nurse give their antibiotics at home.

Even if your child made a good recovery and was well enough to finish their course of antibiotics from home, a hearing test and paediatric follow up appointment are still essential.

Why should my child have a hearing test?

Deafness is the most common serious after effect in children who have had bacterial meningitis. It usually happens early in the course of the illness and it may be noticeable to the family before the first hearing test. However, many cases of meningitis occur in children before they have learned to speak, so even severe hearing loss might not always be noticed by parents. Hearing loss in older children may also go undetected, especially if it is mild or affects only one ear.

It is vital for hearing loss to be identified as soon as possible after bacterial meningitis.

When meningitis damages the inner ear, it can cause the inner ear canals to rapidly harden; a process known as ossification. This can reduce the effectiveness of treatments to restore hearing. It is always important to identify hearing loss early in children because any level of hearing loss can be detrimental to your child's development.

If a hearing loss is identified, several options are available to help your child overcome this. Your child's audiologist (the specialist who carries out the hearing test) will discuss these with you.

There have been a few isolated reports of delayed hearing loss after bacterial meningitis⁵⁻⁶, although this is very uncommon. If you have any concerns about your child's hearing or feel that their hearing has changed since having the initial hearing test, you can ask your audiologist for another appointment, or ask your GP to refer you to the Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT) service.

If your child has hearing loss, more information on this is available online: www.meningitis.org/After-Effects-Children

What will the hearing test involve?

The type of hearing assessment offered will depend on your child's age and stage of development. For babies and children who are too young to answer questions or respond to behavioural tests, both the Otoacoustic Emission test (OAE) and the Auditory Brainstem Response (ABR) are commonly used. The OAE is part of the standard screening tests all babies have shortly after birth. A small earpiece is placed in the child's ear and a clicking sound is played. If the ear is functioning normally, a faint response will be picked up by the earpiece. In an ABR test an audiologist will place small sensors and a set of headphones on the child's head. This test measures whether sound is being sent from the ear, through the auditory nerve to the brain.



Most older children can be assessed with behavioural tests. This is where the child indicates that they hear a sound. Some children with complex needs may require techniques that are normally used with younger children. It is important for children with complex needs to have a hearing assessment. Hearing problems can have a 'multiplier' effect on a child's other disabilities, so it is important for these to be diagnosed and rectified as soon as possible. If your child has complex needs, you should be referred to a centre with experience of testing children with complex needs.

Liam's Story

Liam became ill with pneumococcal meningitis when he was 6 months old. He had flu-like symptoms which became worse over 24 hours, so after numerous visits to the GP his Mum became concerned and brought him to hospital where he spent 10 weeks recovering.

Unfortunately Liam suffered hearing loss as a result of the meningitis, requiring bilateral cochlear implants. In April 2011, age just 9 months, Liam became the first person in Ireland to have sound-restoring implants placed in both ears simultaneously.



Liam's Mum Grace says:

"Four years on, we are so thankful Liam survived meningitis. He is a happy little boy who is due to start school later this year."

Why should we go back to see the Paediatrician after leaving hospital?

A review with a paediatrician is an opportunity to raise any worries you have about your child's recovery, health or behaviour. The doctor should discuss the results of your child's hearing test with you and any after effects your child may have. They can refer your child to other services if required.

Even if your child has made a good recovery, it is vital to attend the review with the paediatrician.

The paediatrician can look for signs of after effects at this review. A range of different effects is possible: they can be mild or severe; temporary or permanent; physical or emotional. Most children recover without severe after effects. The more serious and long-term problems will usually be obvious to parents before discharge. See page 26 for information on serious and long-term after effects.

As a parent you know your child best. It is important to tell the paediatrician at this meeting if you have any concerns.

It is not always possible to be sure whether very young babies who have not yet reached many of their developmental milestones have significant after effects at discharge, or even by the time of your review with the paediatrician. For more information see page 17. If the paediatrician has any ongoing concerns about your child at this review they will arrange another appointment with you.

Note down any concerns you have after discharge so that you can discuss these with the paediatrician at the review. It may help to take photos/videos of things that concern you to show the paediatrician.

What issues might I face during my child's recovery?

It can take many months to recover from meningitis and septicaemia, although some children are back to their normal activities within a matter of weeks. We often hear from parents who are worried about their children when they first return home from hospital. Some common causes for concern are outlined below.

Anxiety that my child is becoming unwell again

It is completely normal to become more anxious about your child's health after a serious illness like meningitis or septicaemia. Some parents say that especially in the first few months, they worry that their child is getting meningitis or septicaemia again every time they catch a cold or have a fever. Viral illnesses are very common in young children, and it is very rare to get meningitis or septicaemia more than once. Nevertheless, keeping information about the symptoms of meningitis and septicaemia to hand can be reassuring for parents, and there is lots of information available **online**.



www.meningitis.org

If your child develops a fever, rash or limb pain within two weeks of being discharged from hospital then this needs urgent medical attention⁷.

In most cases, if such symptoms appear within 48 hours of leaving hospital, you can contact the paediatric team who treated your child. You should have hospital contact details on your child's discharge paperwork. The time limit for directly accessing the ward that treated your child will depend on the hospital, and how serious your child's illness was. The discharging paediatrician should let you know the time frame during which they would expect you to contact the ward if you have concerns. Beyond this time frame, or if you do not have the contact details for the paediatric team who treated your child, you should see your GP, or in an emergency take your child to A&E.

My child has headaches

Headaches are commonly reported amongst children who have recovered from meningitis, and they can last for months or longer after the initial illness. Although fairly common among children generally, there is evidence that headaches can be an after effect of meningitis⁸⁻⁹. If headaches persist, you should discuss them with your child's paediatrician at a follow up appointment. If they continue, then it is important to talk to your GP who can decide what further treatment might help, or if referral to a specialist is needed for further investigation.

My child tires easily

Children recovering from such a serious illness can feel weak and tired at first, or become tired very easily. It is also common for children to have difficulty sleeping for the first few months after discharge, so it is important to be aware of signs of fatigue. Older children may feel well as soon as they get home from hospital and don't realise that they may not be able to slot back into their normal life immediately. This can be very frustrating for them. It can be helpful in these circumstances to explain to your child that it might take a little more time to bounce back, and make sure they get the rest they need. It is also important to speak to your child's nursery or school about this so that they can help your child appropriately.

My child is behaving differently

Children often have problems with behaviour after meningitis and septicaemia, but usually these resolve over time. Some common behavioural problems (dependent on the child's age) are temper tantrums, clinginess, bed-wetting, nightmares, mood swings, aggression, restlessness and an inability to settle down

and concentrate. These problems are probably due to a combination of physical and psychological factors. It is likely that for many children, tiredness makes things worse.

The experience of being severely ill is likely to be stressful for a child. Research has shown that children who were severely ill with meningitis and septicaemia experience stress and anxiety in the months after their illness¹⁰⁻¹².



Children may have intrusive thoughts; for example, memories of their time in hospital unavoidably popping into their mind. They may want to avoid anything reminding them of their illness and not want to attend hospital appointments or talk about when they were ill. This anxiety normally subsides over time but, in a small number of cases, problems persist and require treatment.

The stress and anxiety, be it short or long term, can contribute to clinginess, temper tantrums, sleep disturbances, and regression to baby-like behaviour. This can be especially marked in younger children who cannot tell you what the problem is in any other way.

If your child became ill at an age when they remember their time in hospital, it can be helpful to talk about the experience with your child. Some parents find this difficult because they themselves are very emotionally upset about their child's illness. Even so, it is often worthwhile to find a good time to talk things over with your child. This gives them a chance to tell you whether they are troubled by memories of being in hospital and allows you to try and put their mind at rest about unnecessary concerns.

Some children may find it difficult to speak to their parents about their experience, but may find it beneficial to talk to others, or express themselves in other ways, such as art or play therapy. Some children may not want to talk about it at all. This is perfectly normal and they should not be forced to talk about it if they don't want to.

Creating a story or diary of your child's illness covering before, during, and after their stay in hospital, including pictures can sometimes help families process what has happened. This is something you can look at with your child if, and when, you are both ready. Depending on the severity and type of illness, brain function may be affected and lead to difficulties in concentration and learning. Research shows that this often improves over time, but it may contribute to some behavioural change in the child in the short-term; for example sleep problems, tiredness/irritability and restlessness/over-activity.

Understandably some parents may find themselves giving in to their children much more than before the illness. This can make the child anxious and problems with behaviour or emotion can become worse. It helps to be as firm and consistent with your child as you were before. If fatigue is the cause of your child's irritability you can also look into ways of helping your child to rest. This could involve speaking to your child's teachers about a phased return to school, or encouraging a gradual return to sporting or social activities outside of school.

Fatigue and behavioural problems are often temporary, but can last for several weeks or months. They are quite common three months after coming home from hospital and normally improve over the year after the illness.

If you are finding these problems difficult to manage or you are concerned that there seems to be no improvement in your child's behaviour over time see 'How can I access further care?' on page 31.

My child has lost skills/has co-ordination problems

Some children may forget skills they have recently acquired. Toddlers who were speaking fluently before their illness may go back to baby talk, crawl instead of walking, or need nappies even though they were toilet trained before they went into hospital. Many children have subtle problems with balance or co-ordination. As well as this, children may have difficulties with concentration or memory, which can make returning to school more challenging.

It is important to talk to the paediatrician about these problems if you notice them before you meet to discuss your child's hearing test results 4-6 weeks after discharge from hospital. This could be temporary or a sign of injury to the brain or inner ear damage¹³. It is also important to make sure that your child has had a hearing test. See 'How can I access further care?' on page 31.



Uncertainty over whether my baby has after effects

It can be hard to tell whether young babies have any long-term after effects at the time of discharge because they have not yet reached many of their developmental milestones. Generally, children who have been more unwell in hospital, for example with convulsions or coma are more likely to have after-effects. Even children who do have prolonged seizures or other neurological complications can recover without after effects, but assessing children who have been seriously ill like this is especially important.



Tom's son Nicholas had meningitis at 17 days. Nicholas' development was a little delayed at first but by age two he was reaching all his developmental milestones.

If you are concerned that your child has been left with after effects, it can be useful to refer to a development checklist, which gives advice on what you can expect from your child's development from birth to five years old. A UK checklist, the birth to five timeline¹⁴, can be found here: www.nhs.uk/Tools/Pages/birthtofive.aspx

Although all children are different, we know that there are certain ages when most children can perform a particular task. If your child is falling behind against milestones in the development checklist you should tell a health professional. Meningitis, occurring at the time of rapid brain growth, can potentially lead to damage to the brain. Although there are many reasons why some children develop some abilities later than others, late development in your child could indicate a brain injury from the meningitis. Whatever the reason for your child's delay, early treatment is the best way to help your child catch up. See 'How can I access further care?' on page 31.

If you have any concerns about your child after discharge from hospital you can discuss these with your GP or health visitor at any time.

It is a good idea to note down concerns and take these with you to the review with the paediatrician. It can also be helpful to keep a record of any ongoing concerns for at least a year after the illness. This may help you identify times when your child is at their best/ worst and things that may contribute to this. It can also help you see some problems improving significantly over time.

Daniel's story



Daniel was just 22 days old when he became ill with bacterial meningitis. He had a cold but his Mum Caroline became concerned when he developed a high pitched cry and cold hands and feet. He was brought straight to hospital where he spent 5 and a half weeks recovering.

Daniel was left with some damage to the right frontal lobe and left posterior parietal lobe of his brain which has resulted in after effects; the full extent of which is still being investigated. Daniel was prone to seizures during the early stage of recovery however thankfully these have lessened with time. He is also hyper sensitive to noise and has been left with some muscle weakness on his right side.

Daniel's Mum Caroline says: "I think every parent whose child has had meningitis worries more when that child gets sick. I know when Daniel first got sick it appeared to be a little head cold and quickly turned into a life threatening illness. Daniel suffers from some behavioural problems which can be unpredictable but most of the time he is a bright, happy, loving child who has just started Primary School where he is doing very well."

Should I speak to my child's school or nursery about their illness?

Yes. It is common for children to experience fatigue, concentration and memory, co-ordination and behavioural problems after discharge which can make returning to school or nursery difficult.

Take this booklet when you meet with the teacher, so that they are aware of the sorts of problems that your child is likely to face.

For many children, going back into school and undertaking routine activities can be very helpful, provided of course that they are ready to meet the demands of school. Returning to school or college too early or too energetically may slow down recovery.

If you think that your child is not fully ready to return to school full-time, then we would suggest speaking to the class-teacher and/or head teacher about them attending on a part-time basis initially.

Many families have found this helps their child make the transition back to school without putting too many demands on them.

The school may ask for a letter from the hospital to explain your child's illness. Your child's paediatrician can give you a letter for the school on discharge from hospital or at the **4-6 week review**. It is always a good idea to make sure that your child's GP is aware of their illness. The GP may need to provide a doctor's note to confirm the nature of your child's condition if your child needs time off school.

What late development after effects should I be aware of?

Most children and young people who go home from hospital without any obvious effects should not worry that new problems will develop after the illness, but some of the more subtle after effects of brain injury or damage to bones (in cases of septicaemia) may not be identifiable until years later.

Try not to expect problems if your child seems to have recovered without any effects on their learning or development. This should help your child develop their self-confidence uninhibited by negative expectations.

If some difficulties are identified by you or the teachers, it is possible that these will turn out to be minor and easily overcome with the right support. It is important that if any educational support is needed, that this is identified at an early stage to ensure your child receives the right help when they need it. Moving between schools can be a difficult time for children, and it's important to look out for any problems and ensure they are dealt with as they appear.

Learning and behavioural problems

Some of the less obvious after effects of a brain injury, such as co-ordination, concentration, learning and memory difficulties, may not become apparent until your child reaches school age and is required to concentrate for longer periods of time.

The brain takes over 20 years to fully develop so some problems may not be noticeable until your child is older. The move from primary to secondary school can be particularly difficult. Following a complex timetable, meeting many new teachers, constantly moving around a larger school and remembering homework are just some of the situations that can be very difficult for a child who has memory or concentration difficulties. This can cause frustration and anxiety, and possibly lead to poor behaviour both at home and at school.

Although most children recover without lasting problems, there is a growing body of evidence that children who survive bacterial meningitis and meningococcal septicaemia are more likely to struggle at school in terms of both academic performance and behaviour compared to other children¹⁵⁻²⁰. It is not always possible to be certain that such effects are a direct result of a child having had meningitis and septicaemia. However, bringing this evidence to the attention of your child's GP or teacher may help you gain access to specialist services and support that can further identify and ultimately help your child to manage the problem.

If you notice that your child is experiencing new or different problems it is really important to speak to their teachers and raise your concerns.

Growth plate damage (septicaemia only)

It is a good idea for children who had skin grafting or have significant scarring over their joints after septicaemia to have their growth and limb length monitored by a paediatrician or GP. This is because there is a risk that the end parts of the bones which control growth could have been damaged whilst they were ill²¹. It is also a good idea to look out for loss of wrist and forearm movement if these have been affected by skin damage²².





A child having his walking pattern measured. This type of analysis is used to help plan and monitor improvement after surgery for bone growth deformity.

What about my health as a parent?

Seeing your child or loved one seriously ill in hospital and being powerless to help them can be an extremely stressful and traumatic experience and can affect your own well-being. You may find that you briefly re-experience aspects of your child's time in hospital. At times, you may feel as though the event is recurring, have nightmares or experience vivid intrusive images/sounds/smells from the event, all of which can be very distressing. Equally, you may find yourself constantly questioning why this has happened and how it could have been prevented, or you may try and push the event out of your mind all together and avoid talking or thinking about it at all.

It is perfectly normal to have these feelings initially but, if they are prolonged, they could become problematic. If you identify with the feelings described above, find that you are having problems with irritability, poor concentration and sleep problems, or find yourself withdrawing from family or friends for a prolonged period it is a good idea to talk these through with a health professional. If these symptoms continue for over one month then you may be suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Treatments are available to help. Your GP will be able to assess your condition and co-ordinate your treatment if required²³.

Symptoms of PTSD can be delayed²⁴, so if you start to experience symptoms like this after the event, and you wish to get help, then discuss this with your GP.

It is common to neglect your own needs when caring for a child you love, but to be at your best you need to look after yourself too.

Creating a personal story or diary of your child's illness can sometimes help process what has happened, and you can look at it with your child if and when you are both ready.

The wider impact on family life

Having a child with meningitis or septicaemia can have a major impact on family life; the recovery process can take time for everyone including grandparents and the wider family. Understandably, parents may take longer to adjust after such a traumatic experience, even if their child makes a full recovery.

It is important that all the family receive care and support to meet their needs. Brothers and sisters, particularly young children, will need extra attention and understanding because they can feel anxious and isolated. Parents often feel guilty about dividing their time and attention between their children.

Meningitis Research Foundation free helpline 1800 41 33 44



Edward with his twin brother William. Edward had meningococcal septicaemia at age 7.

Serious and long-term after effects

Although the majority of children who survive meningitis and septicaemia recover without serious after effects, some children may recover with at least one of the effects listed below. Many of these after effects are long-term, but treatment and support may improve or help manage the problem:

- Hearing loss and tinnitus
- Balance problems
- Hydrocephalus (water on the brain)
- Sight loss
- Epilepsy
- Problems with movement and coordination (ranging from muscle weakness to paralysis)
- Behavioural/ emotional problems
- Memory/ concentration problems
- Learning problems (ranging from mild difficulties to severe disability)
- Speech and language problems

Some after effects only affect children who have been ill with septicaemia. These are:

- Skin and muscle damage
- Amputations including loss of fingers, toes and limbs
- Bone growth problems
- Organ damage (such as kidney failure)

It will usually be apparent if your child has any serious or long-term after effects before leaving hospital. In such cases, the paediatrician or other members of the team treating your child should discuss this with you before discharge and refer your child to other specialists for follow up. **Hearing loss** is the most common long-term after-effect of meningitis. Hearing difficulties can range from a mild degree of hearing loss through to profound deafness in both ears. Damage to the inner ear can also cause **balance problems** and **tinnitus** (ringing in the ears.)²⁵⁻²⁷ Depending on the level of hearing loss, decisions about hearing aids or cochlear implants and ways of communicating with your child will need to be made. A cochlear implant is a surgically inserted device that provides a sense of sound to someone who is profoundly deaf or severely hard of hearing. If cochlear implantation is an option, the decision and referral to an ENT specialist will need to be prompt. Your local education and audiology services can help and support you and provide the information you need.

Hydrocephalus (water on the brain) is a rare after effect of meningitis. It happens when the flow of CSF, which circulates around the brain and spinal cord, becomes restricted and starts to build up, putting pressure on the brain. It may be a short lived complication while the child has meningitis, but can sometimes persist after recovery. If the build up of fluid is temporary, then it may be treated by monitoring and occasional drainage via lumbar puncture. If it is permanent, a shunt device will need to be surgically inserted.

Nervous system injury, particularly damage to the brain, results in other after-effects of meningitis. This can cause severe brain damage or more subtle changes to the brain which can take months or even years to become apparent. An injury to the brain that happens after birth is called an acquired brain injury (ABI). Both meningitis and septicaemia can cause ABI but this is usually associated with meningitis in particular. Brain injury after meningitis can result in a wide variety of long-term problems such as **sight loss, epilepsy, problems with movement and co-ordination** (ranging from paralysis of limbs to muscle weakness), **learning problems** (ranging from mild specific problems to severe disability) and **speech** and **language problems**. Severe brain damage following meningitis is not common and is usually obvious within a few days of becoming ill. If it is clear that your child has some form of brain damage after meningitis, hospital staff should explain what the outcome may be and co-ordinate the necessary treatment and support before your child is discharged from hospital.

Other effects of brain injury after meningitis and septicaemia include specific learning difficulties, **behavioural**, **emotional**, **concentration** and **memory problems**. These problems may not be noticed until children become old enough to attend school and are required to concentrate for longer periods of time.

In very young babies, the level of damage to areas of the brain may not be clear early on and it may take some time for health professionals and families to understand the full implications. See page 17.

After effects of septicaemia

Large numbers of bacteria in the blood stream release toxins which cause blood vessels to become leaky. Bodily damage from septicaemia is caused by reduced blood supply and increased blood clotting in various parts of the body. If the blood supply is cut off for a prolonged period it can cause permanent damage to skin, muscle, bones and organs.

Skin and muscle damage may need skin grafts to improve the appearance and restore the function of injured areas. More severe cases of septicaemia may result in the loss of fingers and toes, or if larger areas of the body are affected, surgical amputation of limbs or parts of limbs may be necessary.

Septicaemia can cause **bone growth problems** if blood supply to the growth plates (points within the bones which control growth) is cut off during the acute illness. Although uncommon, these problems can result in uneven or stunted growth of limbs as the child develops and are more likely if your child has skin scarring around their joints. Repeated surgery may be needed to correct this problem.

Reduced blood circulation can cause vital organs to fail. Such serious cases are treated in intensive care, where machines take over the function of these organs. Usually the organs recover completely, but in rare cases septicaemia can cause permanent damage to organs. Depending on the effects of the damage caused, ongoing treatment with frequent hospital visits can be expected.

Daráine's story



Daráine was a very active teenager who was passionate about sports such as GAA and running. At 16 years old she contracted meningococcal meningitis and septicaemia. When Daráine was admitted to hospital with the deadly disease the rash had spread throughout her body and

started causing her major organs to fail. She was put on a life support machine and her parents were told that her chance of survival was virtually nil.

During the 8 weeks that followed Daráine also contracted pneumonia and MRSA but after 2 months doctors were confident that she would survive. However the circulation in her legs and fingers had stopped because of the septicaemia and she had gangrene so her legs and fingertips had to be amputated.

Daráine overcame all obstacles and learned to walk again with her new prosthetic limbs. *"I spent 10 months in hospital and a further 9 months rehabilitating at home before I was ready to get back to school and normal life."*

She passed her leaving certificate in 2002 and went on to study communications in university. Maintaining her love of sport, Daráine now works as a sports news reporter and in recent years presented coverage of the Paralympics on Channel 4.

How can I access further care?

How you go about accessing further care for your child will depend on whether your child is still an outpatient of the hospital that treated their meningitis or septicaemia:

- If your child is still an outpatient, then you can discuss any concerns that you or your child has with the hospital paediatrician who can refer you to an appropriate specialist or service if this is required
- If your child is no longer being seen as an outpatient, then you can go to your GP for advice and/or referral back into 'the system' if this is necessary. It is important to tell your health visitor or GP that your child has had meningitis and it could be helpful to show them this booklet.

If you are concerned about your own health following your child's illness and are experiencing symptoms similar to those described in 'what about my health as a parent?', make an appointment with your GP to discuss your concerns. See page 24.

Where can I go for support?

Meningitis Research Foundation

We know that recovering from meningitis and septicaemia isn't easy. Facing the future can be harder still. With over 25 years experience of supporting people affected we are here to help.

Free membership – There's no need to feel alone in coping with these diseases. We understand what you're going through and joining our 17,500-strong membership will enable you to stay up-to-date with the latest developments, learn about our work and meet people with similar experiences at Member Days and events. You can take part in research or attend a Discovery Day to learn about our pioneering research from the scientists themselves.

In-depth support and disease information – We provide one-toone support, and with the help of experts, we find answers to the questions you need answered, enabling you to make more informed decisions about your child's care and feel reassured about what the future may hold.

Befriending – Support and understanding from someone who's been there. We match people to trained befrienders with a similar personal experience.

Home visits – We come to you to talk through questions and concerns.

Our Information and Support service:

Tel: Free helpline 1800 41 33 44 Email: dublin@meningitis.org facebook.com/meningitisresearch @M_R_F Web: www.meningitis.org

Our vision is a world free from meningitis and septicaemia. We have invested over €22 million in research, leading to many advances in the detection, prevention and treatment of these diseases.

Meninaitis

Acknowledgements

This booklet has been adapted from the UK version produced by Meningitis Research Foundation and Meningitis Now.

We are very grateful to **Professor Karina Butler**, Consultant Paediatrician and Paediatric Infectious Disease Specialist, for her feedback on the adaptation of 'Your Guide' for Ireland.

In addition, the feedback and support of the following doctors and scientists in the UK was invaluable for the initial development of this publication:

Dr Lorraine Als, Research Psychologist; Dr Helen Campbell, Senior Clinical Scientist, Public Health England (PHE); Miss Naomi Davis, Consultant in Paediatric Orthopaedic Surgery; Dr Liam Dorris, consultant Paediatric Neuropsychologist; Prof Elena Garralda, Child and Adolescent Psychiatry; Dr Scott Hackett, Consultant Paediatrician; Vicki Kirwin, Audiology Specialist; Dr Rachel Kneen, Consultant Paediatric Neurologist; Prof Simon Kroll, Paediatrics and Molecular Diseases; Sheila McQueen, Academic Head of Nursing Science; Mr Fergal Monsell, Consultant Paediatrician; Dr Simon Nadel, Consultant in Paediatric Intensive Care; Dr Nelly Ninis, Consultant Paediatrician; Dr Ifeanyichukwu Okike, Clinical Research Fellow; Dr Mary Ramsay, Head of Immunisation, PHE; Dr Andrew Riordan, Consultant in Paediatric Infectious Diseases and Immunology; Dr Andrew Winrow, Consultant Paediatrician.

Our special thanks to the representatives of the Royal Colleges, who provided their time, expertise and encouragement throughout:

Dr Alistair Thomson, Vice President (Education), Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health

Dr Janice Allister, Child Health Representative, Royal College of General Practitioners

Fiona Smith, Adviser in Children and Young People's Nursing, Royal College of Nursing.

Finally we wish to thank all of our wonderful families who are always so generous and willing to give their time, and share their experiences.

References

1. NICE. Bacterial meningitis and meningococcal septicaemia in children: Full guideline 2010; Available from: http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/ live/13027/49437/49437.pdf.

2. SIGN, Management of invasive meningococcal disease in children and young people. 2008: Edinburgh.

3. HPSC. Guidelines for the Early Clinical and Public Health Management of Bacterial Meningitis (including Meningococcal Disease); Available from: http://www.hpsc.ie/A-Z/VaccinePreventable/BacterialMeningitis/Guidance/ File,12977,en.pdf

4. HSE. Complications of meningitis. Available from: http://www.hse.ie/eng/ health/az/M/Meningitis/Complications-of-meningitis.html

5. Jayarajan, V. and S. Rangan, Delayed deterioration of hearing following bacterial meningitis. J Laryngol Otol, 1999. 113(11): p. 1011-4.

6. Silkes, E.D. and J. Chabot, Progressive hearing loss following Haemophilus influenzae meningitis. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 1985. 9(3): p. 249-56.

7. Goedvolk, C.A., I.A. von Rosenstiel, and A.P. Bos, Immune complex associated complications in the subacute phase of meningococcal disease: incidence and literature review. Arch Dis Child, 2003. 88(10): p. 927-30.

8. Berg, S., B. Trollfors, S. Hugosson, E. Fernell, and E. Svensson, Longterm follow-up of children with bacterial meningitis with emphasis on behavioural characteristics. Eur J Pediatr, 2002. 161(6): p. 330-6.

9. Neufeld, M.Y., T.A. Treves, V. Chistik, and A.D. Korczyn, Postmeningitis headache. Headache, 1999. 39(2): p. 132-4.

10. Rees, G., J. Gledhill, M.E. Garralda, and S. Nadel, Psychiatric outcome following paediatric intensive care unit (PICU) admission: a cohort study. Intensive Care Med, 2004. 30(8): p. 1607-14.

11. Shears, D., S. Nadel, J. Gledhill, and M.E. Garralda, Short-term psychiatric adjustment of children and their parents following meningococcal disease. Pediatr Crit Care Med, 2005. 6(1): p. 39-43.

References

12. Garralda, M.E., J. Gledhill, S. Nadel, D. Neasham, M. O'Connor, and D. Shears, Longer-term psychiatric adjustment of children and parents after meningococcal disease. Pediatr Crit Care Med, 2009. 10(6): p. 675-80.

13. Wiener-Vacher, S.R., R. Obeid, and M. Abou-Elew, Vestibular Impairment after Bacterial Meningitis Delays Infant Posturomotor Development. J Pediatr, 2012.

14. NHS Choices. Birth to five timeline. [cited 2012 October]; Available from: http://www.nhs.uk/Tools/Pages/birthtofive.aspx.

15. Stevens, J.P., M. Eames, A. Kent, S. Halket, D. Holt, and D. Harvey, Long term outcome of neonatal meningitis. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2003. 88(3): p. F179-84.

16. Anderson, V., P. Anderson, K. Grimwood, and T. Nolan, Cognitive and executive function 12 years after childhood bacterial meningitis: effect of acute neurologic complications and age of onset. J Pediatr Psychol, 2004. 29(2): p. 67-81.

17. Bedford, H., J. de Louvois, S. Halket, C. Peckham, R. Hurley, and D. Harvey, Meningitis in infancy in England and Wales: follow up at age 5 years. BMJ, 2001. 323(7312): p. 533-6.

18. Viner, R.M., R. Booy, H. Johnson, W.J. Edmunds, L. Hudson, H. Bedford, E. Kaczmarski, K. Rajput, M. Ramsay, and D. Christie, Outcomes of invasive meningococcal serogroup B disease in children and adolescents (MOSAIC): a case-control study. Lancet Neurol, 2012. 11(9): p. 774-83.

19. Halket, S., J. de Louvois, D.E. Holt, and D. Harvey, Long term follow up after meningitis in infancy: behaviour of teenagers. Arch Dis Child, 2003. 88(5): p. 395-8.

20. Sumpter, R., A. Brunklaus, R. McWilliam, and L. Dorris, Health-related quality-of-life and behavioural outcome in survivors of childhood meningitis. Brain Inj, 2011. 25(13-14): p. 1288-95.

21. Bache, C.E. and I.P. Torode, Orthopaedic sequelae of meningococcal septicemia. J Pediatr Orthop, 2005. 26(1): p. 135-9.

22. Fergal Monsell, Personal communication. 2012.

References

23. NICE. Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). The management of PTSD in adults and children in primary and secondary care. 2005 [cited 2013 11th January]; Available from:

http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/live/10966/29769/29769.pdf.2

24. Colville, G. and C. Pierce, Patterns of post-traumatic stress symptoms in families after paediatric intensive care. Intensive Care Med, 2012. 38(9): p. 1523-31.

25. Hugosson, S., E. Carlsson, E. Borg, L.O. Brorson, G. Langeroth, and P. Olcen, Audiovestibular and neuropsychological outcome of adults who had recovered from childhood bacterial meningitis. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 1997. 42(2): p. 149-67.

26. Rasmussen, N., N.J. Johnsen, and V.A. Bohr, Otologic sequelae after pneumococcal meningitis: a survey of 164 consecutive cases with a follow-up of 94 survivors. Laryngoscope, 1991. 101(8): p. 876-82.

27. Aust, G., Tinnitus in childhood. Int Tinnitus J, 2002. 8(1): p. 20-6.



Meningitis Research Foundation 83 Amiens Street Dublin 1

Tel: 01 819 6931 Free helpline: 1800 41 33 44 Email: dublin@meningitis.org



Registered charity number 20034368 (Ireland), 1091105 (England and Wales), SC037586 (Scotland)

Company Limited by Guarantee Registered in England Number 4367866

Registered Office: Newminster House, Baldwin Street, Bristol BS1 1LT

Notes

Notes

© Meningitis Research Foundation January 2019. Next review March 2020